RECEIVED

Apr 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Jocelyn Newman, Court of Common Pleas Judge

Case No. 2025-000253
Trial Case No. 2024CP2800851

Shelby Troublefield,

Respondent,

v.

Freda Stevens,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This case originated from the filing of a petition for a restraining order by the Respondent against the Appellant. (Record at pp. 21-22). Following a hearing on October 21, 2004, the magistrate court learned that there had been a malfunction in the court’s recording system and, as such, no transcript was available when the Appellant filed notice of appeal from the order granting the restraining order on October 28, 2024. (Record at p. 17).

Therefore, the magistrate judge issued a fairly detailed ruling addressing the lack of a recording and his response to it. He wrote,

After the hearing concluded, and a ruling on the record was made, the Court learned that the hearing was not recorded due to a malfunction of the recording system, or human error. Thus, this return is based on the notes commensurately taken by the undersigned, the exhibits offered and testimony taken and recounted and summarized herein, and the complete Court file, attached hereto.)

(Record at p. 17). Magistrate’s Return filed December 18, 2024. (Record at pp. 16-20).

In his return, the magistrate determined that the Appellant had engaged in a pattern of behavior that constituted legal harassment and that her actions had placed the Respondent in reasonable fear of harm. (Record at pp. 19-20).

The Appellant filed notice of appeal from the magistrate court and the case came on for a hearing in the Kershaw County Court of Common Pleas on January 16, 2025, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman presiding. T. p. 1. (Record at pp. 73-76). Judge Newman's decision was based on the magistrate's Return and on very brief testimony (the transcript is only 20 pages long). (Record at pp. 73-103). In appealing the magistrate's decision, the Appellant set forth a number of grounds that she alleged constituted error. She contended that she was being denied meaningful appellate review by virtue of an incomplete record caused by the recording malfunction, placing her in the position of assigning error to a record whose contents cannot be fully known.

She further argued that the court's restraint on her liberty was unjustified based on the pattern of behavior cited by the judge, which included her calling the Respondent a disrespectful name and engaging in various back and forth messages that would likely be typical for interactions between a mother of young children and their teacher. However, the pattern that most troubled the court (and appears to form the real basis of the restraining order) relates to a statement the Appellant allegedly made relating to firearms and another alleged statement which the court took to be a true threat.

In this appeal from the order issued by the Court of Common Pleas affirming the magistrate's order, the Appellant argues that but for those statements, interpreted in the worst possible context, the remaining items cited by the magistrate would be insufficient to support a restraining order.

ISSUE PRESENTED

- I. Whether the trial court incorrectly interpreted the Appellant's remarks to find the existence of a threat where no true threat existed.

FACTUAL BASIS

The Respondent, Ms. Troublefield, is a school teacher, employed at Doby's Mill Elementary School. (Record at pp. 17, 21). The Appellant, Ms. Stevens, is the mother of a minor child who attended that school and was in the Respondent's class. (Record at pp. 17, 21). A review of a series of communications between the parties (which is to be included in the record and was attached to the Return) will show this court that the parties had a pattern of engaging in mostly normal and constructive parent-teacher dialogue, but that the Appellant did become angry with Respondent on some occasions, resulting in her at times aggressively challenging the Respondent and complaining about the Respondent's behavior. (Record at pp. 34-56). The crux of the Appellant's complaints related to what she characterizes as targeted and retaliatory behavior by certain individuals associated with the school, including the Respondent, allegedly directed toward her children.

The Appellant's specific complaints are the basis on an ongoing federal lawsuit against the school district and various individuals, including the Respondent. However, the facts at issue here relate to statements allegedly made by the Appellant relating to guns and violence.

The first statement allegedly occurred on September 10, 2024, with Appellant accused of uttering the words, "I have too many guns." (Record at pp. 18, 20). According to the magistrate's Return, "The context for this comment was a meeting at the school regarding child transportation. The comment was testified to by Ms. Heights and Ms. Cappozziello, school employees and witnesses for Plaintiff.

The comment was communicated to Plaintiff.” (Record at pp. 18).

The second statement was allegedly made on September 30, 2024, resulting from an incident involving the Appellant and the Respondent in a car pick up line at the school five days earlier. (Record at p. 18-20). According to the magistrate’s findings, this involved the Appellant getting into a verbal altercation with the Respondent. In his Return the magistrate wrote, “Witnesses for Plaintiff Ms. Mosely and Ms. Lewis (the Principal) testified of yelling and irate conduct by Ms. Stevens and Ms. Stevens accusing Ms. Troublefield of unprofessional conduct.” (Record at p. 18).

Five days later, on September 30, 2024, Appellant is alleged to have made a series of angry statements about the Respondent. According to the Return, the school’s principal testified that the Appellant discussed “destroying” the Respondent’s career and “turning her career and the school upside down.” However, the alleged statement that seems to have troubled the court the most was a statement attributed to Appellant by the principal in which the Appellant is accused of saying, “If I think she (Troublefield) will hurt me or my child, I will blow her brains out.” (Record p. 18). The principal relayed these remarks to the Respondent. (Record at pp. 18-19).

According to the Return, the Appellant’s counsel contended that any comments made were not threats, and to the extent that comments were made they were not serious comments or were joking comments not to be taken literally. “Defendant did introduce a text chain between her and Ms. Troublefield concerning a variety of normal back and forth conversations between a parent and teacher. The item introduced was for the purpose of showing just that, a normal back and forth regarding the welfare and education of the child.” Magistrate’s Return filed December 18, 2024. (Record at p. 19).

The Appellant did not testify at the original hearing, but she did address the Court of Common Pleas on appeal. At the magistrate's court hearing, Appellant's counsel "reiterated that no direct threats were made by Defendant to Plaintiff, that if made it was protected speech, and that actions by Ms. Stevens were taken by her only in furtherance of the best interests of her child." (Record at p. 19).

The magistrate, in the Return, emphasized that of all the testimony heard, the things that convinced him that the Appellant had unreasonably intruded into the life of the Respondent were the alleged events of September 10 and September 30, because both alleged statements referred to guns and/or firearm violence, stating, "The Court considers these comments to be unreasonable intrusions into the life of Plaintiff, *per se*." (Record at p. 20).

In the Return, the court states that it "wondered out loud what a proper context would actually be for comments such as that, involving allusions to firearms on school grounds," stating that it felt that "even if these comments were made outside of the presence of Plaintiff, but were communicated to her, a pattern of harassment was established nonetheless." (Record at p. 20).

Before the Court of Common Pleas, the Appellant gave her own account of what happened with respect to the alleged threat. She stated:

Now, the extent to which they have done in this particular case has caused me a lot of physical and emotional distress. So what actually took place in this matter is that, on September 25th, the teacher in this case, Mr. Troublefield, approached my car when I was there pick up three children -- three of my four children.

She approached my car. She started yelling at me. My four-year-old daughter -- she was four at the time -- she had another head injury in her class. She starts yelling at me about the head injury. You know, "Did you hear from the nurse?" so on and so forth about the head injury. And I actually happened to be on the phone with someone from the State of Florida. This was a State official I was talking to in the State of Florida. I was on the phone.

And then, immediately after that, she storms off. The principal comes over. And I told the principal, "I don't want my child in her class ever again. I don't want her to ever come up to my car. I don't want her to have contact with my other kids." Because she made one of my other kids so afraid that she couldn't even sleep in her own bed that night. I made a complaint to the Department of Education. I also found out the very next day that she put my daughter -- all four of my kids are adopted. She put my daughter on the school website, which I signed a note saying they can't do that at the beginning of the school year. No other teacher has done that but this one teacher. No other teacher.

Transcript p. 7, line 16-p. 8, line 13. (Record at pp. 79-80).

The Appellant further explained, stating,

what I said as far as error in applying the law, what they have attributed to harassment has been nothing but my advocacy for my kids for their educational needs and their safety. That's all I've ever done is advocate for my kids' educational needs and safety. I have never at any point made a threat to Ms. Troublefield. And, in fact, the day that she approached my car and started yelling at me, I did not get out of my car. I did not make any sort of threats towards her. I just simply asked that she would -- that my kid would be moved from her class, basically, and she have no more contact with me.

Transcript p. 13, lines 6-16. (Record at p. 85).

She further elaborated,

The First Amendment protects my right to free speech, including the right to express concerns to advocate for my children and report misconduct. In this case, what you're speaking to the September 10th, that whole conversation had nothing to do with Ms. Troublefield. She was not in the room and it was not said about her. That was at an IEP meeting for my son where we were talking about -- who is an elopement risk, by the way; he's autistic. And he wears this band from the police. And that meeting and that comment had to do with the pedophile in the community that I had just, maybe an hour or two before that, sent information to the principal about because where I live is in proximity to the school, and the guy was walking up and down the street close to the school. So that's what that comment was about. It had absolutely nothing to do with her. When a person is at a school or wherever, they don't lose their constitutional rights.

Transcript p. 14, lines 6-21. (Record at p. 86).

The Appellant further urged the court to consider the timeline and view the alleged remarks in their proper context. “So the context of the conversation -- we all, in different conversations, have had conversations where we made statements,” she said. “But if we take them out of context, they can sound like something that they're not. That wasn't the context here. There was no conflict with us on September 10th.” Transcript p. 15, lines 7-12. (Record at p. 87).

The Appellant made it clear that, “I maintain that I've never threatened her. I have no desire in my heart to try to harm her or anybody else. I've made that clear. This is an effort to protect my children.” Transcript p. 18, lines 21-23. (Record at p. 90).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT IMPROPERLY INTERPRETED THE COMMENTS IT FOUND CONCERNING AND RESTRAINED THE APPELLANT’S LIBERTY FOR ENGAGING IN PROTECTED SPEECH.

“When the government seeks to punish speech based on its content, the First Amendment typically imposes stringent requirements. This ensures that the government, even when pursuing compelling objectives, does not unduly burden our Nation’s commitment to free expression.”

Counterman v. Colorado, 600 U.S. 66, 83-84, 143 S. Ct. 2106, 2119-20 (2023).

“From 1791 to the present. . . the First Amendment has permitted restrictions upon the content of speech in a few limited areas.” *United States v. Stevens*, 559 U. S. 460, 468, 130 S. Ct. 1577, 176 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). These categories must be “well-defined and narrowly limited” in light of the serious consequences that flow from carving out speech from ordinary First Amendment protections. *Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire*, 315 U. S. 568, 571, 62 S. Ct. 766, 86 L. Ed. 1031 (1942).

“True threats” are one such category.

This includes punishing single utterances based on the message conveyed. One paradigmatic example of this would be writing and mailing a letter threatening to assassinate the President. Such laws are plainly important. There is no longstanding tradition, however, of punishing speech merely because it is unintentionally threatening. Instead, this Court’s precedent, along with historical statutes and cases, reflect a commonsense understanding that threatening someone is an intentional act. As to what intent is needed, [t]raditionally, one intends certain consequences when he desires that his acts cause those consequences or knows that those consequences are substantially certain to result from his acts. This does not require showing that an individual intends to carry through with the threat. But it does require showing that an individual desires to threaten or is substantially certain that her statements will be understood as threatening.

Counterman, 600 U.S. at 83-84. (internal citation omitted).

“Speech amounts to a ‘true threat’ when ‘an ordinary, reasonable recipient who is familiar with the context of the [communication] would interpret it as a threat of injury.” *United States v. Turner*, 720 F.3d 411, 420 (2d Cir. 2013). Here, the context of the concerns seized on by the court were known to all parties.

The comment about the Appellant having “too many guns” did not arise from the context of her linking any threat from her owning guns to school personnel or property. As she explained to the Court of Common Pleas, the comment related to her concerns about a sex offender who had been observed in an area not far from her children. A parent imagining that he or she would use a gun to protect their child from a pedophile is not a threat to anyone (except possibly to the pedophile, should he act on his proclivities). We have all made similar hyperbolic statements and we all understand that the nature of the statements is generally not to project an improper threat

toward an individual, but a statement of our boundless love for our children and an expression of how we would be willing to do anything necessary to keep them safe.

Such a statement is protected speech. To strip away those protections, the listener has to hear the statement as simply involving “guns” and a “school.” Obviously, any time we hear guns being mentioned in a school context, we feel a sense of alarm. We have all come to associate such statements with gun violence at schools. And we are right to be vigilant about such statements, given that we regularly see gun tragedies involving school students and personnel played out in real time on the news.

However, the first statement at issue here, in context, should not raise those same concerns. It should instead raise the same concerns that would be raised if we overheard someone saying, “If I pedophile sexually assaulted my child, I’d shoot him.” Which is to say, very little concern, especially where the entire scenario is speculative as to the pedophile engaging in any prospective action. It is an expression of every parent’s biggest fear, and one way we cope with that fear is to imagine that we would be willing to do whatever is necessary to remove such a threat from our children’s lives.

The second statement, which did involve Respondent (although it was not communicated to Respondent by the Appellant), is of a similar contextual nature. If it is any kind of threat at all, it is one that is conditioned on something harming the speaker’s children. It carries the same hyperbolic exaggeration as the first statement and conveys the same purpose and motive. That is, an expression by a parent stating that she would do anything to keep her children safe. As Appellant made clear to the court, she never intended to threaten the Respondent and in fact did not directly threaten the Respondent. Rather, she was frustrated at what she perceived as her child being singled out for unfair and malicious treatment by the Respondent. Her alleged

statement is nothing more than an expression of such frustration combined with the expression previously discussed—the willingness of a parent to do anything to protect her child.

Obviously, the Appellant did not intend to convey any actual threat. But more importantly, the listeners, knowing full well the context of the statements, could not have reasonably believed them to be serious threats.

The trial court failed to properly apply the First Amendment tests to the statements it singled out as causing such concern. It erred in basing its decision to restrain the Appellant's liberty on her allegedly uttering those statements. Although it is impossible to know for sure, it does not appear that the court, but for those statements, would have entered a restraining order against Appellant. As such, the order affirming the magistrate's ruling should be reversed and the matter remanded for the court to determine whether the other factors, such as the patterns of communications between the parties, is sufficient to support the entry of a restraining order.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Appellant respectfully asks that this court reverse the judgment affirming the magistrate's entry of a restraining order and remand the case to the trial court for further consideration.