RECEIVED

Jan 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roderick M. Todd, Jr. Magistrate Judge

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000253
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-28-00851

Freda Stevens,Appellant,

v.

Shelby T. Troublefield,Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether this appeal is moot because the underlying restraining order expired on its own terms on October 21, 2025, one year after its issuance on October 21, 2025?
- II. Whether the Circuit Court's decision affirming the magistrate court's restraining order is supported by any evidence?

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 21, 2024, after hearing from numerous witnesses, a Kershaw County magistrate court issued a restraining order against Appellant after a repeated course of harassment against Respondent, including yelling, name-calling in professional correspondence, threats to ruin Respondent's career, and threats to "blow [Respondent's] brains out." (Magistrate's Return pp. 1–4.)

Thereafter, Appellant appealed the issuance of the restraining order. On January 16, 2025, after oral argument, the circuit court affirmed the magistrate court's issuance of the restraining order. On February 11, 2025, Appellant filed the appeal at bar. The restraining order expired on October 21, 2025. (Magistrate's Return p. 44.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review to be applied by a circuit court in an appeal of a magistrate's judgment is prescribed by Section 18-7-170 of the South Carolina Code:

Upon hearing the appeal the appellate court shall give judgment according to the justice of the case, without regard to technical errors and defects which do not affect the merits. In giving judgment the court may affirm or reverse the judgment of the court below, in whole or in part, as to any or all the parties and for errors of law or fact.

S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-170 (2014); *see also Bowers v. Thomas*, 373 S.C. 240, 244, 644 S.E.2d 751, 753 (Ct. App. 2007).

“The magistrate’s factual findings, confirmed by the circuit court, must be upheld by the appellate court if supported by any evidence.” *See Union Cnty. Sheriff’s Off. v. Henderson*, 395 S.C. 516, 519, 719 S.E.2d 665, 666 (2011). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). Further, South Carolina courts will not reach the merits absent a justiciable controversy; thus the Court should not address moot or abstract matters. *See Jowers v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 423 S.C. 343, 353, 815 S.E.2d 446, 451 (2018).

ARGUMENT

I. The Restraining Order at issue has expired and this appeal is moot.

As a threshold matter, this appeal has clearly become moot because the restraining order at issue has expired and has not been renewed.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has long recognized that “[a] case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for reviewing court to grant effectual relief.” *Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep’t*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). The *Mathis* case involved an appeal by the South Carolina State Highway Department from the lower court’s order revoking the suspension of the respondent’s driver’s license and reinstating respondent’s driving privileges after his license was suspended the Department for a period of one year. *Id.* By the time the appeal was heard by the South Carolina Supreme Court, nearly two years later, respondent already would have been entitled to have his license returned under the terms of the original suspension. *Id.* Accordingly, the Court ruled that the issues on appeal had been rendered “moot and academic.” *Id.* at 346, 195 S.E.2d at 714.

In *South Carolina Coastal Conserv. League v. Dominion Energy S.C., Inc.*, 432 S.C. 217, 851 S.E.2d 699 (2020), the South Carolina Supreme Court relied on *Mathis* to hold that an appeal from a Public Service Commission order setting rates for an electric utility to purchase solar and other renewable energy from producers was moot because the rates in question had expired by the time the appeal was heard. *Id.* at 223, 851 S.E.2d at 702 (“The rates have expired. If we were to reverse the PSC, our ruling would have no effect [on the parties].”).

Under the well-established doctrine of mootness, this appeal should likewise be dismissed because nothing the Court of Appeals could do in this case would affect the legal status of the parties with respect to the now-expired restraining order. Regardless of her claim that her threats to shoot a teacher were somehow protected speech, the order restraining her conduct here is no longer in force,¹ and the issues before this Court are now “moot and academic.” *Mathis*, 260 S.C. at 346, 195 S.E.2d at 714; *see also Ivey v. Town of Cherry Grove Beach*, 244 S.C. 363, 364, 137 S.E.2d 277, 277 (1964) (dismissing as moot the town’s appeal from an injunction preventing it from discharging its police chief, because the term of office at issue had expired).

II. The Circuit Court’s decision affirming the magistrate court’s restraining order was supported by ample evidence.

Even assuming this appeal was not moot, as an additional sustaining ground the magistrate’s factual finding that Appellant’s threatening behavior constituted second-degree harassment under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1700(B) is well supported by the record.

The magistrate court went into detail to explain Appellant’s escalating and reprehensible actions and conduct, which occurred over only a 20-day period:

¹ As noted in the Magistrate’s Return, the School District issued a no trespass order against Appellant which remains in effect as to school property. That order was not part of the matter below and is not part of this appeal. (Magistrate’s Return p. 3.)

- In a comment communicated to Respondent, during a discussion about issues surrounding her child’s transportation, Appellant noted that she had numerous guns.
- In a direct message to Respondent, Appellant criticized her attitude and demeanor.
- In a second direct message to Respondent and copying her supervisor, Appellant referred to Respondent as “Mrs. Trashfield,” rather than her name, Mrs. Troublefield.
- At the car rider line at school, Appellant became verbally irate at Respondent, screamed at her, and accused her of unprofessional conduct.
- At a meeting with Respondent’s supervisor, the contents of which were communication to Respondent, Appellant discussed “destroying” Respondent’s career and “turning [Respondent’s] career and the school upside down.”
- At the same meeting, Appellant expressed her willingness to “blow [Respondent’s] brains out.”
- At the same meeting, the comment about “blow[ing] [Respondent’s] brains out” was repeated twice.
- This series of events caused Respondent to suffer distress, fear, and changes in her daily life.

(Magistrate’s Return pp. 1–4.) In light of this accepted evidence, the magistrate judge rejected Appellant’s argument that she was engaging in protected speech, and noted his “severe concern” over Appellant threatening to shoot a teacher on school grounds. (*Id.* pp. 3–4.) He further made the factual finding that Appellant intentionally engaged in a pattern of unwarranted, unreasonable, and intrusive conduct into Respondent’s life that caused Respondent mental or emotional distress. (*Id.*) This squarely constitutes harassment second degree, which in turn justifies the issuance of a restraining order. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1700(B) (noting that the offense requires “a pattern of intentional, substantial, and unreasonable intrusion into the private life of a targeted person that serves no legitimate purpose and causes the person . . . to suffer mental or emotional distress.”).

In affirming the magistrate court, the circuit court noted that even absent the shooting threat, Appellant referring to her many guns and calling Respondent names in official school

correspondence was hostile and “not just simply advocating for your child.” (Circuit Court Tr. p. 13.) Accordingly, the Court should affirm the circuit court as the magistrate’s findings were supported by “any evidence”, even without the threat of shooting Respondent. *Henderson*, 395 S.C. at 519, 719 S.E.2d at 666.

To the extent Appellant tries to craft an argument that her comments were constitutionally protected, this argument fails for at least two reasons.

One, this Court has explained that “whether the facts of a case were correctly applied to a statute is a question of fact[.]” *Boggero v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 414 S.C. 277, 280, 777 S.E.2d 842, 843 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *Hopper v. Terry Hunt Constr.*, 373 S.C. 475, 479, 646 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct. App. 2007), *aff’d* by 383 S.C. 310, 680 S.E.2d 1 (2009)). Thus, because there is at least some evidence to support the magistrate’s findings, Appellant fails to meet her burden under the applicable standard of review.

Two, even through a legal lens, the magistrate expressly noted Appellant’s First Amendment arguments and the record shows that Appellant’s words, and *also* her actions, constituted harassment. (Magistrate’s Return pp. 1–4.) Additionally, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, when examining a West Virginia harassment statute, explained that “[p]rohibiting harassment is not prohibiting speech, because harassment is not a protected speech.” *Thorne v. Bailey*, 846 F.2d 241, 244 (4th Cir. 1988) (“The statute is clearly not a censorial statute, directed at any group or viewpoint. It seeks to protect citizens from harassment in an even-handed and neutral fashion.”).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this appeal as moot or otherwise affirm the judgment of the circuit court.